



SAINTS PERFORMING ARTS, INC ; BY-LAWS

ARTICLE I: ORGANIZATION

Section 1: The name of the organization is the Saints Performing Arts, Inc.

The Organization may also use the synonymous names “Saints”, “Columbus Saints Drum & Bugle Corps”, “Saints Drumline Inc.” or such other Doing Business As names as the board might approve.

Section 2: The Organization’s principal office is located in Columbus, OH.

Section 3: The Organization is organized exclusively for the purpose stated in Article II as a non-profit corporation. Officers and Directors shall serve without compensation.

Section 4: When any word of the by-laws is used in the masculine gender, it shall be construed as though it were also used in the feminine gender where it should so apply.

ARTICLE II: MISSION AND VISION

Section 1: The Mission of the Organization is to provide a program for youth and the greater music and performance training community through a positive environment that emphasizes character and social development, leadership, self-discipline, and the pursuit of excellence. At minimum, the organization must hold at least once a year either a community arts and music workshop, festival, or clinic. These events must reserve at least 5% of positions for young members defined as “beginner” or “low level skill” to foster a positive learning experience. If the Organization is unable to meet 5%, it must review outreach to include members of the targeted demographic.

Section 2: The Vision of the Organization for achieving its Mission is expressed in our mission statement “INSPIRING EXCELLENCE THROUGH TEAMWORK, DISCIPLINE, AND CREATIVITY IN CENTRAL OHIO, THROUGH THE PERFORMING ARTS.”

ARTICLE III: MEMBERSHIP

Section 1: Voting members are those persons age twenty-two (22) or older who are alumni in good standing of any performing arts or community organization including independent,



scholastic, or government affiliated. In order for an alumnus or booster to be in good standing, he/she must meet one of the following requirements:

- The individual must provide proof of successful participation including at least two (2) associated references, OR
- The individual must volunteer a minimum of fifty (50) hours to the Organization during the current fiscal year. Volunteer hours must be logged by the volunteer and submitted for approval by the Executive Director.

Section 2: The title of Founder applies solely to Incorporators Mr. Marshall Cheatham, and the title carries with it a permanent position on the Board of Directors. This position carries the same weight and authority of a Board of Director position. The individual title cannot be removed or amended from these bylaws, nor can their individual Advisory Council membership be changed, without their individual written consent

ARTICLE IV: Organization MEETINGS

Section 1: There shall be a minimum of one general business meeting per year of the members of the Organization. This will be designated as the “Annual Meeting” and shall be held no later than thirty (30) days from the end of the fiscal year. The agenda shall include elections of the Board of Directors; and an annual report on the fiscal and operational results and plans of the Organization. Other Organization meetings shall be held as requested by the Board of Directors or upon call to the Board President for such a meeting by at least five (5) voting members of the Organization.

Section 2: A quorum consisting of at least five (5) voting members of the Organization shall be required to conduct all official business at the Annual Meeting or other meetings of the Organization.

Section 3: Notice of the Annual Meeting will be made no less than ten (10), nor more than fifty (50), days to the scheduled meeting via the Organization’s website or in the periodic newsletter and shall include the date, time, place, and purpose of such meeting. Notice for special Organization meetings will be provided in the same manner. Proxy voting is permitted at the Annual Meeting, and such proxies shall be in a form substantially similar to that provided on the attached Exhibit A. Proxy votes shall count toward the determination of a quorum under Section 2 of this Article IV.



ARTICLE V: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1: The governance of the Organization shall be vested in the Board of Directors.

Section 2: Members of the Board shall actively participate on at least one Board committee and are expected to attend all Board meetings, either in person, by telephone, or by videoconference.

Section 3: In each fiscal year, each member of the Board shall contribute or secure contributions to the Organization totaling at least \$1,000 or an in-kind contribution at the discretion of the board. For purposes of this Section, a contribution shall be defined as funds obtained from a donor. Failure to satisfy the requirement noted in this Section will result in dismissal from the Board per the discretion of the Board President.

Section 4: The Board shall consist of at least five (5) voting members including the Executive Director.

Section 5: Each year, at least three (3) Board members, and no fewer than the number of members necessary to comprise one-fourth (1/4) of the Board at the time of the Annual Meeting, will be elected for a three-year term by a simple majority vote of the voting members of the Organization at the Annual Meeting. Thus, at least two (2) members serve staggered three-year terms. The Board may appoint additional Board members for one-year terms, but in no instance shall the number of appointed members exceed the number of elected members. If this occurs, elections for the Board will be held within 30 days of the occurrence.

Section 6: Each elected Board member's term shall expire after the annual election in which his Board position has been filled. Each appointed Board member's term shall expire after the Annual Meeting. Vacancies will be filled by the Board until the next Annual Meeting.

Section 7: There shall be a minimum of four (4) regular meetings of the Board each year. Special Board meetings may be held at the call of the Board President or any five (5) Board members upon call to the Board President. Board meetings will normally be held quarterly. All Board members will be notified by personal phone call or written notice by the President or his representative of the scheduled special meetings. Any Board member with two (2) consecutive unexcused absences or three (3) unexcused absences within a single business year will be subject to removal from the Board at the discretion of the Board President.



Section 8: A quorum consisting of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board shall be required for conducting all official business.

Section 9: Board action requires a simple majority vote of the members present at a duly called meeting of the Board at which a quorum is present except as noted elsewhere in these by-laws.

Section 10: Mail, electronic, and/or proxy votes are allowed at Board meetings including the Annual Meeting. Proxy and mail votes will be accepted prior to the Board meeting.

Section 11: Members of the Organization, Board advisors, and others who are not Board members may be present at Board meetings by invitation of the Board President.

Section 12: At the request of any Board member and with Board approval, any Board meeting may be placed into executive session so that only elected and appointed members of the Board are present.

Section 13: The Secretary of the Board is required to take minutes of all Board meetings and share the minutes with members of the organization within five days of the meeting. The Board may designate the most efficient method to share the minutes with the Organization.

ARTICLE VI: OFFICERS

Section 1: The elected officers of the Organization shall be a President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Secretary.

Section 2: Immediately after the annual elections and appointments of Board members, the entire Board shall select from its membership a President, Vice-President, and Treasurer. A simple majority of the total Board members voting will elect an officer. A person may not serve in more than one office at the same time.

Section 3: The President shall be the principal officer and shall act as Board chairman during meetings, and shall be responsible for the execution of Board policy and for overseeing the management of the affairs of the Organization through Board officers, appointed Executive Director, and the committee chairmen. The President conducts any meeting of the Organization except during the election process, when the Nominating Committee chairman shall preside. The President shall arrange for and hold quarterly Board



meetings on a regularly scheduled basis and inform members of the proposed agenda, in writing, prior to the meeting.

Section 4: The Vice-President shall act as Board vice-chairman and will assist the President in the performance of his duties, and he shall preside over Board or Organization meetings in the absence of the President. He shall report to the Board on the activities and decisions of the Executive Committee.

Section 5: The Treasurer, as Chairman of the Finance Committee, shall be responsible for (i) overseeing the proper preparation and maintenance of the Organization's books of account by the Executive Director or his designee; (ii) ensuring that appropriate internal financial controls are in place to facilitate the accurate and timely preparation of the Organization's books of account; (iii) reviewing and obtaining Finance Committee and Board approval of an annual budget prepared by the Executive Director or his designee, in advance of the beginning of each fiscal year; and (iv) monitoring the revenues and expenditures of the Organization for consistency with the budget approved by the Board. He shall further be responsible for ensuring that the Executive Director submits such financial reports to governmental and tax authorities as are required by law.

Section 6: The Secretary shall have such duties as described by law.

Section 7: The President of the Board shall appoint a recording secretary to record the Board and Organization minutes. The recording secretary need not be a Board member.

ARTICLE VII: MANDATORY STANDING COMMITTEES

Section 1: The Executive Committee shall consist of the President, Vice President, Treasurer, and one additional Board member to be elected by the full Board. During the periods between Board meetings, the Executive Committee shall be empowered to take any action on behalf of the Organization that is not specifically reserved to the Board by these bylaws; provided however, that the Executive Committee's actions shall be subject to approval or modification by the full Board at its next meeting. The Executive Committee shall conduct, and report to the Board on, an annual assessment of the performance of the Executive Director of the roles and responsibilities set out in his or her written job description. The Executive Committee shall work with the Executive Director or his designee to ensure that the Organization (i) establishes and maintains a written organizational chart that details the full administrative and artistic staff of the Organization, together with reporting lines; and (ii) establishes and maintains written job descriptions for



each administrative and artistic staff position of the Organization, which descriptions shall set out the roles and responsibilities of each staff member.

Section 2: The Nominating Committee shall consist of at least three (3) Board members serving in at least the second year of their three-year terms. They will select a chairman from among themselves. If there is a vacancy, the Executive Committee shall name another Board member to the Nominating Committee. The Chairman of the Nominating Committee shall preside at the meetings during the election/appointment process. Each year the Committee shall actively seek and present to the Organization a slate of interested, willing, and qualified candidates for election or appointment to the Organization’s Board.

Section 3: The Finance Committee shall consist of the President, the Treasurer, and at least one other Board member, named by the President. The Treasurer will serve as the Chairman of the Finance Committee. The Finance Committee shall review and submit to the Board at the final meeting of each fiscal year a proposed budget for the coming fiscal year. Prior to each quarterly meeting of the Board during the fiscal year, the Finance Committee shall be provided and review a reasonably current written report from the Executive Director or his designee concerning the Organization’s revenues and expenses in comparison to the budget approved by the Board. The Finance Committee also shall review and approve the acquisition of any asset, or the commitment to any liability, by the Organization in an amount that exceeds thresholds established by the Board.

Section 4: The Risk Management committee shall consist of at least three (3) Board members, with its chairman appointed by the President. The Risk Management committee shall be responsible for working with the Executive Director or his designee to (i) assess the operational, legal, reputational and other risks associated with the activities of the Organization; and (ii) develop and implement policies, procedures and strategies to mitigate against such risks as are identified, including but not limited to the procurement of such insurance as is necessary and prudent for the Organization.

Section 5: The Development Committee shall consist of at least three (3) Board members, with its chairman appointed by the President. The Development Committee shall be responsible for working with the Executive Director or his designee to (i) develop strategies for maximizing charitable giving and other sources of revenue for the Organization and (ii) carry out such solicitation and other activities are necessary to effectuate those strategies.

Section 6: Special committees as required may be created by the President subject to Board approval.



Section 7: Appointments to all committees shall be made by the President subject to Board approval.

ARTICLE VIII: PROFESSIONAL STAFF

Section 1: The Board of Directors of the Organization may directly or through the Executive Committee research and obtain such professional expertise as the Board may determine is necessary and appropriate to facilitating the activities and needs of the Organization. Terms and conditions of each selection and agreement are subject to at least annual Board review and approval.

Section 2: The Executive Director shall be selected by the Board to serve a specific term of employment under a written contract. He is responsible to the Board for the successful management of the operating activities of the Organization. He will have complete responsibility and authority to manage the Organization within the constraints of the Organization's by-laws, the policies adopted by the Board, and the current budget approved by the Board. He will be responsible for preparing a proposed annual budget for submission to the Finance Committee for its review at least a month prior to the final quarterly meeting of the Board in the preceding fiscal year, and for submitting such periodic financial reports to the Finance Committee as are described in Article VII

Section 3. The Executive Director shall be responsible for the appointment of all administrative and artistic staff of the Organization, consistent with such policies as are adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE IX: FINANCIAL MATTERS

Section 1: The fiscal year shall be November 1st through October 31st .

Section 2: The Organization's business year will run from November to October, the dates to be determined by the dates of the Annual Meeting. Board terms are based on the Organization's business years.

Section 3: Compensation and expenses of trustees and officers - All trustees, including trustees who are serving as officers, shall serve without compensation.

Section 4: Budgets - All budgets must be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the trustees entitled to vote at a regular meeting or at a special meeting called for this



Purpose.

Section 5: Deposit accounts. All funds, other than petty cash, of the corporation shall be deposited in accounts established at one or more banks designated by the board of trustees, and shall be disbursed only by checks, orders, or bills signed by the treasurer, vice president, or additional persons designated by the board.

Section 6: Loans. The corporation shall not borrow money without the approval of the board of trustees, and all promissory notes and other loan documents must be signed by the president, vice-president and treasurer of the corporation.

ARTICLE X: ADDITIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

Section 3: The logo and symbol of the Organization will be the art deco “angel” (see attached Exhibit A which is incorporated by reference). The symbol, logo, motto of the Organization and other insignia identifying the Columbus Saints and any other sponsored units or programs of the Saints Performing Arts either by color, motto, symbol, or word designation shall be deemed to be the exclusive property of the Organization. The Board’s representative or agent should review any and all designs to ensure proper use of any Organization symbols. New symbols may not be used without the express written consent of the Board or the Board’s representative or agent. The sale and/or distribution of articles using any such symbols, logos, or mottos by any unauthorized persons or organizations is not allowed absent the prior approval of the Executive Director of the Organization.

Section 4: Amendments to or repeal of the by-laws may be adopted either by the voting membership of the Organization or the Board of Directors. Any by-law adopted by the Board shall be subject to amendment or repeal by the voting membership of the Organization as well as by the Board. A two-thirds vote by either body is required to amend or repeal any by-law adopted by the Board. Notice of a meeting to consider changes or amendments to the by-laws and the intended articles and sections to be changed (not including necessarily contingent articles and sections) shall be published on the Organization’s website or in the periodic Corps newsletter no fewer than ten (10), nor more than fifty (50), days prior to the Board or Organization meeting, including which changes or amendments are proposed to be voted upon. Any changes in the bylaws shall become effective immediately upon the required vote of the membership of the Organization or the Board in accordance with this Section.



Section 5: All members are expected to display and ensure responsible and appropriate behavior. Organization members, Board members and Officers may be removed for cause by two-thirds vote of the Board.

Section 6: The Organization shall use all of its efforts and funds to accomplish the Mission and Vision specified in the by-laws and no part of said funds shall be distributed to the members of the Organization or Board. The causes for dissolution must be documented completely along with all alternative solution to dissolution. Dissolution requires a three-fourths vote of the Board and ratification by a two-thirds vote of a special Organization meeting. On dissolution, the Board shall determine the distribution of the remaining assets (net of its obligations) to a qualified not-for-profit organization.

ARTICLE XI: INDEMNIFICATION

The corporation shall, to the extent legally permissible, indemnify each person who may serve or who has served at any time as an officer, director, or employee of the corporation against all expenses and liabilities, including, without limitation, counsel fees, judgments, fines, excise taxes, penalties and settlement payments, reasonably incurred by or imposed upon such person in connection with any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding in which he or she may become involved by reason of his or her service in such capacity; provided that no indemnification shall be provided for any such person with respect to any matter as to which he or she shall have been finally adjudicated in any proceeding not to have acted in good faith in the reasonable belief that such action was in the best interests of the corporation; and further provided that any compromise or settlement payment shall be approved by a majority vote of a quorum of directors who are not at that time parties to the proceeding.

The indemnification provided hereunder shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of persons entitled to indemnification hereunder. The right of indemnification under this Article shall be in addition to and not exclusive of all other rights to which any person may be entitled.

No amendment or repeal of the provisions of this Article which adversely affects the right of an indemnified person under this Article shall apply to such person with respect to those acts or omissions which occurred at any time prior to such amendment or repeal, unless such amendment or repeal was voted by or was made with the written consent of such indemnified person.



This Article constitutes a contract between the corporation and the indemnified officers, directors, and employees. No amendment or repeal of the provisions of this Article which adversely affects the right of an indemnified officer, director, or employee under this Article shall apply to such officer, director, or employee with respect to those acts or omissions which occurred at any time prior to such amendment or repeal.

END OF BYLAWS